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To achieve world-wide recognition
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as an excellent Companies Registry
giving the community
a quality service.
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To provide our customers with efficient, cost-effective and

quality services and facilities to incorporate companies and to
register and inspect company documents.

To continuously review and enhance our services and facilities
and undertake effective enforcement, taking account of the
best modern technology available.

To motivate our staff to achieve organisational
objectives by adopting appropriate human
resource management strategies.
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To care for and respect our customers by listening to them and taking into
account their needs and expectations when shaping the types and quality
of service which we deliver.

To care for and respect our colleagues as a quality service and effective
enforcement can be delivered and undertaken only through dedicated
people of high calibre working together as a team.

To change for the better by remaining receptive to new ideas,
technologies and work practices so as to enhance the level and
quality of our services and facilities.
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Embracing Challenges Ahead

This is the report of my first full year as General Manager
of the Companies Registry Trading Fund. The year 2008-09
was one of contrasts and challenges. We experienced
strong business performance in the first half of the year,
but the global economic downturn in the second half
inevitably affected the Registry’s business. Despite this, the
Registry secured very fruitful results in all major areas of its
operations and achieved record levels of business turnover
and profits. For this, | must thank all my colleagues for
their hard work, dedication and professionalism, all of
which contributed to yet another successful year.

Highlights Include:

e Maintained over 730,000 companies on register

¢ Achieved a record level of financial performance
— increase in turnover by 6.3 per cent to $389.3 million

— increase in profit after tax by 3.5 per cent to
$134.7 million

— increase in rate of return on average net fixed assets
by 3.8 basis point to 30.6 per cent

¢ Maintained a solid financial position

— net assets up by nearly 10 per cent to $790.1 million

— cash at bank and in hand up by nearly 17 per cent to
$498 million

00 Annual Report 2008-09
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ooooo Companies Registry

e Exceeded all performance pledges for our 13 core
services

e Established a new Receipt and Despatch Centre of
the Business Registration Office of the Inland Revenue
Department at the Public Search Centre of the Registry
to provide one-stop service for company incorporation
and business registration

e Expanded the Index of Directors to include particulars of
reserve directors

¢ Introduced new incorporation forms for local companies
and streamlining incorporation procedures

e Introduced an online view function for search of image
records and enhanced the format of image records for
ease of viewing

e \Won the "2009 Best SME’s Partner Award" organised by
the Hong Kong Chamber of Small and Medium Business

e Recognised as a "Caring Organisation” (2008-09) by the
Hong Kong Council of Social Services

e Received the Bronze Award given by the Steering
Committee on Promotions of Volunteer Service for the
Registry’s Volunteer Service

e Fostered a culture of continuous professional develop-
ment by organising a series of in-house Company Law
lectures

Faced with an ever-changing business environment, we are
committed to building a Companies Registry of the future,
to serve the business community and for the business
community. To that end, in 2008-09, we continued to
enhance and upgrade our infrastructure, both technological
and legal.
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Systems Development

Major enhancements were made to the Integrated
Companies Registry Information System (ICRIS) to
implement legislative and procedural changes. In June
2009, we awarded the contract for the development
of Phase Il of ICRIS with a view to launching electronic
incorporation of companies and the provision of one-stop
service for electronic company incorporation and business
registration in 2010-11. This, | believe, will significantly
expedite the process of starting a business in Hong Kong.

Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance

The Companies Bill Team has been working full speed on
the rewrite of the Companies Ordinance. Two further
rounds of public consultation were carried out in 2008-09.
The Administration aims to publish a draft Companies Bill
for further public consultation in late 2009, and to submit a
new Companies Bill to the Legislative Council in late 2010.
Before that, the Administration will introduce a Companies
(Amendment) Bill to facilitate the implementation of
electronic incorporation of companies.

00 Annual Report 2008-09
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Looking Ahead

The years ahead will be full of challenges on all fronts.
Thanks to the Registry’s strong financial position and
the continuous support of our highly professional and
dedicated team, | am confident that we are well positioned
to rise to the challenges.

We are committed, as a team, to embracing the
challenges ahead.

M,

O0O0o0ooO0 MsAdalLlL Chung, JP

00000000 Registrar of Companies and
000000000000 General Manager, Companies Registry Trading Fund

ooooo Companies Registry
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Services and Business Volumes
Incorporation and Dissolution of Companies

Compared to 2007-08, incorporation of companies in
2008-09 registered a moderate increase of 7.8 per cent
to 109,416 (2007-08: 101,512). The increase was mainly
due to an upsurge in applications received in March 2009,
where applicants were believed to rush for incorporation
of companies before the end of March 2009 to take
advantage of the waiver of business registration fee for
2008-09. A record number of 20,251 companies were
incorporated in March 2009 alone. For the first four
months of 2008-09, the number of companies incorporated
recorded a strong increase of 15.2 per cent over the same
period of 2007-08. With the onset of the global financial
crisis, the number of companies incorporated in the
months from August 2008 to February 2009 decreased as
compared to the corresponding months in 2007-08. Of the
companies incorporated in 2008-09, 81 per cent were one-
member companies (2007-08: 80 per cent).

2007-08
[ 2008-09
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With the concerted effort of the Registry and the Inland
Revenue Department, a Receipt and Despatch Centre of
the Business Registration Office was set up on 1 December
2008 in the Registry’s premises to provide one-stop service
for company incorporation and business registration.
Company promoters can submit an application for business
registration at the Centre immediately after the issue of the
certificate of incorporation, thus saving a separate trip to
the Inland Revenue Office for the purpose.

In 2008-09, a total of 19,028 defunct companies were
struck off under section 291 of the Companies Ordinance,
representing an increase of 27 per cent compared to that
for 2007-08. In addition, 22,888 defunct solvent private
companies were deregistered under section 291AA of the
Companies Ordinance and a total of 1,945 companies were
dissolved by liquidation.

As at 31 March 2009, there were 732,961 local companies
on the public register.

oooooboooooo
Number of Local Companies on the Public Register
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Documents Received for Registration
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Registration of Documents

In 2008-09, the Registry received 1,776,575 documents for
registration (2007-08: 1,981,346), representing an average
of 7,266 documents received on every working day and
a decrease of 10.3 per cent compared to the figure for
2007-08. The decrease was mainly due to the introduction
of new incorporation forms for local companies on 11 July
2008 and a revised specified form for notification of change
of company secretary and director, which streamlined
the relevant processes and resulted in a reduction in the
number of documents required to be delivered to the
Registry for registration. Of the documents received for
registration in 2008-09, 32 per cent were annual returns
while 27 per cent provided information relating to company
directors and secretaries.

Documents required to be delivered to the Registrar of
Companies for registration cover different aspects of the
operation of a company, such as the memoranda and
articles of association, notifications of appointments and
changes of company secretaries or directors, notifications
of change of addresses of registered offices, returns on
allotments and annual returns.

2007-08
2008-09
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Registration of Charges

The number of documents creating or entering charges
received for registration decreased, in a manner similar
to incorporation albeit more significantly, as the global
financial crisis unfolded. Despite a strong performance
in the first four months of 2008-09, the Registry received
31,390 charge documents for the year (2007-08: 41,822).
This represents an average of 128 charges received on
every working day. Same as 2007-08, about two-thirds
of the charges received in 2008-09 were related to landed
properties.

The intake of charge documents created by companies has
all along been closely tied with the economic market. The
global economic downturn in the later half of the 2008-09
financial year saw a significant decrease of 24.9 per cent of
charge documents submitted for registration as compared
to the previous year.

2007-08
2008-09
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Public Search

Through the Registry’s Electronic Search Services (e-Search
Services), customers can visit our Cyber Search Centre
(CSC) on the internet (www.icris.cr.gov.hk) to conduct
company searches on a 24 x 7 basis throughout the year.
Information available for search includes current data of

companies and digitised images of documents registered
with the Registry. Most of the search results can be viewed
either online or downloaded by customers. Customers
can place orders through the CSC for certified copies of
documents or records which will be delivered by post or
courier or collected in person at the Registry’s Public Search
Centre. Customers who have registered at the CSC as a
Registered Online User upon payment of a small annual
fee can enjoy lower search fees for image record search
and the convenience of having the search fees deducted
from an amount prepaid to the Registry. Unregistered
Online Users must pay their search fees using the electronic
payment facilities available on the internet. While all
search services are accessible through the CSC, the Registry
still maintains a self-serviced Public Search Centre at 13th
floor, Queensway Government Offices, Hong Kong, where
assistance can be obtained from our staff.

In 2008-09, a total of 2,914,702 searches on document
image records were made through the e-Search Services,
a decrease of 2.6 per cent compared to that for 2007-08.
This represents an average of 11,921 searches on image
records conducted on every working day. The total number
of searches on company particulars and Directors’ Index
were 157,462 and 241,189 respectively, up by 13 per
cent and 22.4 per cent respectively compared to those for
2007-08.
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The take up rate of the e-search services was very
encouraging. As at 31 March 2009, there were over 1,760
registered online users (2007-08: 1,630), and about 98
per cent of company searches were conducted over the
internet.

The key workload statistics for 2009 are set out at Appendix A.
The statistical highlights from 1999 to 2009 are set out at
Appendix B.
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Customers’ Needs

The Registry is committed to delivering quality services
to the community. We continuously review our services
and facilities, taking into account customers’ feedbacks
and suggestions. We have well-established and effective
channels to collect views, ideas and opinions from different
customer groups to facilitate process re-engineering and
consideration of new initiatives. In addition, we maintain
regular contacts with our major customers, through visits,
consultations in the process of introducing legislative or
procedural changes and organisational functions.

The Companies Registry Customer Liaison Group (CRCLG)
comprises representatives from the Law Society of
Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, the Hong Kong Association of Banks and
some major customers. The CRCLG provides a useful and
effective forum for briefing customers of the Registry’s
policies and procedures and for exchanging ideas and views
on the Registry’s services and new initiatives.

|

Liaison Group

goooooooo
Members of the Customer
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Companies Registry
Customer Service Survey 2008
Level of Overall Customer
Satisfaction

The Registry commissions independent consultants to
conduct annual customer service surveys with a view to
gauging customers’ expectations and identifying areas for
further improvement. The results of the survey conducted
in 2008 are shown in the chart below.

2.1% 1.1%

. +HwmE
Very Satisfied

0 ows

Satisfied

—#
Average

BEER
No Comment
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Mr Chan Yue-kwan received the
Ombudsman's Award 2008 for

Officers of Public Organisations

18

0Doooo Companies Registry

The Registry won the "2009 Best SME's Partner Award"
organised by The Hong Kong Chamber of Small and
Medium Business Limited. This award signifies the
contribution and support given by the Registry in facilitating
a conducive business environment for the growth and
development of SMEs in Hong Kong.

On the recommendation of the Registry, Mr CHAN Yue-
kwan, Clerical Assistant of the Document Management
Section of the Public Search Division, won "The Ombudsman’s
Award 2008 for Officers of Public Organisations". The
Award recognises Mr CHAN's exemplary performance as
well as the Registry’s continuous effort in enhancing our
customer services.

ooo2000 0000000000
Receiving the 2009 Best SME’s Partner Award
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Performance Pledges

To ensure that the Registry provides an efficient, cost-
effective and quality service to customers, we have
introduced performance pledges since the establishment of
the trading fund in 1993. The pledges cover the following
core services: —

e Registration of local and non-Hong Kong companies
under the Companies Ordinance

e Registration of documents required to be lodged by
companies

e Provision of services and facilities for inspection and
acquisition of company information

e Deregistration of defunct solvent private companies

under the Companies Ordinance

Service standards are measured in terms of the percentages
achieved against target response time. We closely monitor
the performance and fluctuations in workload. Service
standards are reviewed annually, taking into account
customers’ expectations and comments.

00 Annual Report 2008-09
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To keep customers updated about our performance
pledges and service standards, the Registry publishes its
performance targets and results annually. In 2008-09, we
have more than achieved our performance targets. For
2009-10, we have further enhanced the performance
pledges by shortening the response time for registering
non-Hong Kong companies, registering documents and
charges and supply of hard and certified copies of search
results. In addition, we have also set a higher percentage
target on achieving the service standard for registering local
companies. The Registry’s detailed performance targets
and achievements are set out in the table on the next page.
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Performance Targets and Achievements

1993-94" 2008-09 2008-09 2009-10
gooo oo
Achievement Target
0000 | 0oOo (0o) |((Cooo)
ud i oo oo oo
Actual Service
i gooo e
e Performance | Standerd | 0800 joooO0 | - - (BOO0 0000
ooood ooood Service oooad
0,
(age) | (ctwa) | BO® | Sandard® | o
% Meeting | % Meeting BisE Megting
Standard Standard Standard
(0oDoDooDoDoOoooooo0)
(expressed in working days unless otherwise specified)
goooo
Registration of new companies .
— 0000 local company 7 4 90 99 9 4 4 95
— 00000 non-Hong Kong company 38 15 90 100 10 14 90
oooooooo ooo
Change of name of a local company N/A 4 20 98 8 4 90
gooooo
Registration of documents 4
— 0000 local company 33 7 90 99 9 6 90
— 00000 non-Hong Kong company 47 7 90 99 9 6" 90
oooo #
Registration of charges 12 ? 20 %8 8 8 20
goooooo
Deregistration of companies
—O0oooooooog ooo
issue of approval letter N/A > 97 % 2 > 97
oooooo
Online search on the internet
—0o0o00ooooooooo
supply of image records of documents for - 1000 min. 95 100 5 1000 min. 95
download
—0oooooooooon? #
supply of certified copies of search result? . 500 hr. 90 100 10 300 hr. 90
—pooo?
supply of certificates? ) L 95 100 5 L %5
Oooo00oooDOoo
Onsite Search at the Public Search Centre
—Oooooooooog . L #
supply of hard copies of search results ) AUBI(T] o1 e 12 1o AUBIAL G el
—O0O000O0o0oooobao #
supply of certified copies of search results ) 400 br. e 1o 1o 300 hr oL
—0oooo
supply of certificates } 1 %5 100 > 1 95
oooo@oooooon) . A
Submission of documents (queuing time only) ) 2000 min. 90 97 7 2000 min. oL
0000D000000000000000000 3 0OoOoo0oo0ooo

The Companies Registry Trading Fund was set up on 1 August 1993.

gooobooooooooooooooD
Time for delivery by post or by courier service is excluded.

The day of submission is excluded.

* 00o0o0o

Improved targets.
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Finance

By a resolution of the Legislative Council, the Registry
was established as a trading fund on 1 August 1993,
The Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430) stipulates that a
trading fund should meet expenses incurred in the provision

of service out of its income and achieve a reasonable
return on the fixed assets employed. As a trading fund
department, the Registry is required to operate on a self-
financing basis and commercial principles. The annual
accounts of a trading fund must be prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, audited and
tabled before the Legislative Council.

In 2008-09, turnover was up by 6.3 per cent to
$389.3 million (2007-08: $366.4 million) and surplus
increased by 3.5 per cent to $134.7 million (2007-08:
$130.1 million). The Registry achieved a 30.6 per cent
return on the average net fixed assets employed for the
year, compared to 26.8 per cent for the previous year.

The Registry’s financial position remains very strong. As
at 31 March 2009, the trading fund capital together
with retained earnings amounted to $655.3 million.
Net assets have been increased by nearly 10 per cent to
$790.1 million. The Registry essentially had no borrowing
— its liabilities mainly consisted of the monetised value
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of the untaken leave of its staff, prepayments received
from the registered users of the Integrated Companies
Registry Information System (ICRIS), taxation and accrued
expenses. On the other hand, cash and placements with
banks amounted to $498 million (2007-08: $426.1 million).
Capital expenditure over the next few years will be mainly
on the development of Phase Il of ICRIS, improvements
in system security and system upgrades necessitated
by changes in statutory requirements and government
network and IT developments.

The average annual rate of return on the average net fixed
assets employed since 1 August 1993 stands at a healthy
level of 15.6 per cent, exceeding the target rate of 8.3 per
cent. This remarkable achievement was attributable to our
continuous efforts to enhance productivity and efficiency
of service.

00 Annual Report 2008-09
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(Figures in $ million)

The surplus generated over the past years has enabled
the Registry to build up a healthy reserve to finance
its development projects. All the expenses on the
development of ICRIS and Phase | of the rewrite of the
Companies Ordinance would be funded from the Registry’s
reserves.

The Annual Accounts for the 2008-09 financial year,
together with the Report of the Director of Audit on the

Accounts, are at Appendix C.

Some key figures on the Registry’s financial performance in
the past five years are set out in the table below: —

2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08  2008-09

god

Turnover 270.0 2082 322.2 366.4 3893
Doon 168.2 171.0 197.8 2295 2425
Operating costs

gooogo

orofi® after tax 85.1 114.1 118.6 130.1 134.7
non/aooononon 25.5 57.1 59.3 65.1 1347

Dividends paid / payable to Government

ooooooooooo”
Rate of return on average
net fixed assets Nt

18.6% 22.6% 23.2% 26.8% 30.6%

" J000000000000000000000000000000D00000D0000000000000D0000D0O00ODODOODo

ooooooooo

Note The target rates of return for trading funds have excluded interest income and expenditure from the calculation of return from 2006-07 onwards.
The figures for 2004-05 and 2005-06 have been restated for the sake of comparison on a like-with-like basis.

oDoooo Companies Registry
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134%  1.9%

2007-08

Operating Costs

16.0%

15.7%

2007-08

7.6%

5.2%

12.7% 1.8%

6.7%
' 42%
\\
" W

\

26.4%

2008-09

15.7%

16.2%

2008-09

WEXHELE
Charges registration fees

AR B
Incorporation fees

FHRRELE
Annual registration fees

Efft R E
Search and copying fees

B RRAREE A
Fees for administration
and collection services

HtEA
Other fees

BTI&A
Staff costs

e R
Depreciation and
amortisation

BIERX
Operating expenses
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Functions and Organisation

Functions

The Registry was established as a government department
on 1 May 1993 and, later, a trading fund department on
1 August 1993. The following ordinances are administered
and enforced by the Registry: —

e Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32)

e Limited Partnerships Ordinance (Chapter 37)

e Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29) (with respect to trust
companies)

e Registered Trustees Incorporation Ordinance (Chapter
306)

e Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163)

e Miscellaneous incorporation ordinances

Within the framework of the above legislation, the Registry
undertakes the following major functions: —

* Incorporation and Registration

To provide services and facilities to allow promoters of
companies, limited partnerships and trust companies
to incorporate their enterprises, to register non-Hong
Kong companies, to deregister defunct solvent private
companies and to register all documentation required
to be filed by the various ordinances governing those
enterprises

e Public Search
To provide the public with services and facilities for
inspecting and obtaining company information kept by
the Registry on the various statutory registers

¢ Enforcement

To ensure compliance by companies and their officers
with their obligations under relevant ordinances

e Policy and Legislation
To advise the Government on policy, regulatory and
legislative issues regarding company law and related
legislation, corporate governance and other matters
affecting the commercial sector



HEN
goobobbooooooobooo
og33yoooooo27ysbood
goooseooooooooon
goobobbooooooobooo
goos34o000pgooooogon
obooobOooboobooobooon
goooao

obooobOooboobooobooon
ogobgd—

Organisation

As at 31 March 2009, the Registry had a total of 337 staff,
of whom 278 were civil servants and 59 were contract
staff, as compared with the manpower strength of 349 as
at 31 March 2008. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the drop in caseload in the latter half of 2008-09.

The Registry’s organisation for 2008-09 was as follows: —

NARHEMEERER
Registrar of Companies

EIE AR (1)
Deputy Principal
Solicitor (1)

AT EMEER
Registry Solicitor

EIER2E (2) AT Higm

Deputy Principal : :
& Registry Manager Business Manager
Solicitor (2) gistry 9 9

ZEs% BoFikER EERE P LAKRLR
Legal Company Customer 1RBIEIAT
Services Law Services Company

Reform Formation &

Enforcement

DESUEE | AREM B W% R BB

Registration [l Public Search General Financial Development [l Information
Support Services Technology
Services
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Managers of the Company Formation and Enforcement Division Managers of the Public Search Division
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Managers of the Registration Division
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Human Resources

Staff Training

The Registry is committed to equipping all staff with the
necessary skills and knowledge so that they could discharge
their duties efficiently and effectively and provide a quality
service to members of the public. The Departmental
Training and Development Plan for 2008-09 was drawn up
to meet the operational needs of the Registry as well as to
facilitate the development of staff members. A Training
Officer, at Chief Companies Registration Officer rank,
has been appointed since 2008-09 for the Companies
Registration Officer grade.

In November 2008, the Registry successfully arranged a
one-week training attachment for two Senior Companies
Registration Officers to the State Administration for Industry
and Commerce and Beijing Administration for Industry and
Commerce.

The Registry has continued to provide financial support
to all staff in attending work-related courses and
examinations. In addition to the training provided by the
Civil Service Training and Development Institute and other
bodies, in-house seminars and training sessions were
conducted. They included induction programme for new
recruits, briefing sessions and a series of Company Law
Lectures: —

e "Development of Corporate Governance in Asia"
by Professor CK Low of The Chinese University of
Hong Kong

e "Evolving 'Rules of the Game' in Corporate Governance
Reform" by Professor Jennifer Hill of the University of
Sydney

e "Recent Development of Company Law in China" by
Professor Wang Jiangyu of The Chinese University of
Hong Kong
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e "The Role of Directors" by Mr Stephen Jamieson, Vice
President, Listing Enforcement, Listing Division of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited

In 2008-09, a total of 520 training days were undertaken
by staff.

Communication

The Registry values communication with staff. Committees
such as the Departmental Consultative Committee, the
Staff Recreation Committee and the Companies Registry
Safety Committee, which comprise representatives from
both management and staff sides, meet regularly to
discuss matters which affect the well-being of members of
the Registry.

The Registrar of Companies holds regular gatherings with
all divisional managers to discuss topical issues relating to
the operation and development of the Registry.

Staff Relations

During the year, the Registry organised various kinds of
social and recreational activities to enhance staff relations
and physical well-being. In celebration of the 15th
Anniversary of the Registry, an outing to Hoi Ha Wan was
held. The event was attended by about a hundred staff
and their family members. Other activities held in 2008-09
included a two-day trip to Macau and Zhongshan, video
shows on occupational safety and health, interest classes

gooooooooooao
goooboboooooog
Talk on "Development of Corporate

of The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Governance in Asia" given by Professor CK Low
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15th Anniversary outing to Sai Kung
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Traditional Chinese knot making class
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Outing to Macau and Zhongshan
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and the Christmas party cum lunch buffet. As an initiative
to boost staff welfare, the Registry has provided a multi-
purpose room for use by staff members since May 2008.

Staff Motivation and Recognition

The Registry has implemented a Staff Motivation Scheme
to promote awareness of, commitment to and continuous
enhancement of performance pledges. The Scheme
consists of five awards, namely, the Registry Performance
Award, the Best Suggestion Award, the Best Service Award,
the Best Counter Staff Award and the Good People and
Good Deeds Award.

As the Registry has exceeded the targets of all pledges for
2008-09, the Registry Performance Award was granted
to all eligible staff to recognise their efforts and excellent
performance. In 2008, registration of new local companies,
which is a service provided by the New Companies Section,
was voted by our customers as the winner of the Best
Service Award for the sixth time. The target standard for
the service was to complete 90 per cent of all cases within
four working days. In 2008-09, the performance of the
New Companies Section exceeded the target standard
and the Section was able to achieve the target in 98.7 per
cent of the cases. Fifteen winners of the Best Counter
Staff Award were selected by our counter customers who
returned 1,586 voting forms. The award has helped to
instill a sense of commitment in staff to provide a courteous
and efficient service.

godooooooboo—0ooooo
The winner of the Best Service Award —
the New Companies Section
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Other civil service-wide staff recognition schemes, such
as the Long and Meritorious Service Travel Award and the
Long and Meritorious Service Award Schemes are also
in place to recognise long and meritorious service. In
2008-09, four officers from the Registry received the Long
and Meritorious Service Travel Awards and 17 officers were
awarded the Long and Meritorious Service Certificates.

Social Responsibility

From the social responsibility perspective, we strive to
maintain the highest ethical standards in the conduct of
our business, enhance our contributions to the society as
a whole and provide a healthy working environment for
our staff.

Caring Organisation 2008-09

For the first time, the Registry participated in the Caring
Organisation/Company Scheme organised by the
Hong Kong Council of Social Services in 2008 and was
recognised as a Caring Organisation because of its
achievements in the areas of volunteer work, employee
friendliness, employment of the vulnerable and donations.
Two of the Registry’s officers have been nominated as
Caring Ambassadors under the Scheme.

gooobobooooboboooboboooo
gooooooooooo

Our Caring Ambassadors, Ms Susanna Chow and Ms Sally Kwok,

at the Caring Organisation Award Recognition Ceremony
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During the year, the Registry’s staff continued to
demonstrate their community spirit by actively participating
in various donation programmes, in particular, the relief
efforts for the Sichuan earthquake victims. In March 2009,
two of our staff participated in the HSBC Pok Oi Cycle for
Millions 2009, the first of its kind in Hong Kong. They won
the champion and second runner-up awards in the personal
fund-raising group. The charity ride started at Tai Po
Waterfront Park and routed through the Tolo Harbour Cycle
Track to Shatin Park, totalling a distance of 10 kilometres.
The event not only promoted awareness of the need for a
green community, it also raised $3 million to support Pok Oi
Hospital’s diversified range of services.

Social Services

The Companies Registry Volunteer Team was established
in 2002 to help the underprivileged, the aged and to
serve the community. In 2008-09, our Volunteer Team
participated in various volunteer activities, including a visit
to an elderly centre in Aberdeen, a trip to Hong Kong
Wetland Park with the mentally handicapped pupils of
Hong Chi Morningjoy School, Yuen Long, and the flag days
of the Hong Kong Society for the Blind and the Community
Chest. In support of the elderly, our Volunteer Team and
other fellow staff members knitted over a hundred scarves
for distribution to the elderly during the visit to the elderly
centre in Aberdeen. In appreciation of the volunteer

000000000000 DOO0DO0O0Ooooooooooz2o0090d
ooooooooooooo

Ms Eva Chan and Mr Andy Wai won the Champion and 2nd runner-up awards respectively
in the personal fund-raising group at the HSBC Pok Oi Cycle for Millions 2009




Oood0ooOooooo
Our Volunteer Team visiting an elderly centre

gooobobooooooooooo
Over 100 scarves were knitted by
our staff for the elderly

goooobooooobo
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Visiting the Hong Kong Wetland Park with students
of Hong Chi Morningjoy School, Yuen Long
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services provided by our Volunteer Team in 2008, the
Steering Committee on Promotion of Volunteer Service of
the Social Welfare Department presented the Registry with
the Bronze Award for Volunteer Service. Four members of
our Volunteer Team received Silver/Bronze Awards for their
outstanding volunteer service.

Occupational Safety and Health

The Registry cares about the occupational safety and health
of its staff. The Companies Registry Safety Committee was
set up in 2000 and the committee meets on a regular basis
to discuss issues in relation to safety and health risks in the
workplace. The Committee also recommends and monitors
measures for improving the safety and health of its staff.
As a corollary, staff are encouraged to attend training
courses on occupational safety and health matters.

In addition, the Registry conducts occupational safety
inspections regularly to identify potential hazards in the
workplace and issues guidelines and internal circulars in
respect of communicable diseases and contingency plans.

During the outbreak of human swine influenza, the Registry
took swift and proactive actions in getting staff prepared to
fight against the pandemic and minimise its effect on the
services we delivered. Timely updates and health advice
were sent to all staff members to keep them alert of the
latest developments. The Registrar of Companies set up
an Emergency Management Command Team to map out
strategies to fight against the pandemic and review the
effectiveness of our contingency plans. The Registry also
stepped up cleansing services in its premises, in particular
the public areas and installed additional disinfectant spray
devices for use by members of the public. Protective
equipment was provided to staff members for their use in
the workplace.
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Indoor Air Quality

We participated in the "Indoor Air Quality Certification
Scheme for Offices and Public Places" organised by the
Environmental Protection Department and was awarded
a certificate certifying that the indoor air quality in the
Registry’s premises at Queensway Government Offices had
fully met the standard of "Good" indoor air quality.

Job Shadowing

In February 2009, the Registry joined hands with the Junior
Achievement Hong Kong to host a one-day Job Shadowing
programme. The programme was organised to expose
young people to a real business environment, to equip
them for the job market and to encourage them to make
an early start in planning for their future. The Registry
sponsored eleven Sixth Form students of Shun Lee Catholic
Secondary School, who "shadowed" their workplace
mentors as they went through a normal day at work.

i
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godoboboooooooooobooono
Students from the Shun Lee Catholic Secondary School
working under the guidance of their workplace mentors
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Environmental Protection

The Business Manager acts as the Registry’s Green Manager.
The Green manager and six Assistant Green Managers have
been tasked to promote and oversee the development and
implementation of green measures in the Registry. We
have adopted the following environmental policies and
principles: —

e Maintaining a high level of environmental awareness
among staff and encouraging them to practise the three
"R" principles — Reduce, Re-use and Recycle materials

e Complying with legislation, regulations and standards on
environmental protection

e Ensuring the efficient use of energy and materials by
adopting green purchasing and the three "R" principles

e Minimising waste and ensuring its safe handling

e Pursuing environmental protection through the adoption
of environmentally friendly technologies, minimisation
of possible adverse impact on the environment and
continuing to find ways to enhance the Registry’s
environmental performance

e Conducting environmental audits as and when necessary



00O00o0oooooooooao Our targets and actual performance on various green

oo00— measures are as follows: —
2008 2008 2009
oo good od
Target Performance Target
000 % 000 % 000 %
gooo
Waste Minimisation
0o0000o0o0o0o0obOOobOoboobo
using blank side of used paper for drafts 100 100 100
DIZID[IEID[IEID/DEIDDEI 100 99 100
using recycled/wood-free paper
DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD 98 99 99
re-using envelopes or using transit envelopes
ooooobooboobon
using refillable ball pens 100 100 100
DI:IDDEIDDEIDEIEIDDDDDE'IDDDD 100 100 100
using old sets of documents for re-circulation
oooooooooo /oooog
Waste Recovery for Recycling/Re-use
goooo
collection of waste paper 98 98 98
goooooooobobo 100 100 100

collection of used printer cartridges

gooo
Energy Conservation
0o0odoo0ooboobooboboboo
routine checking to switch off lights, photocopiers, etc. 100 100 100
outside office hours

goopDOopooooo
Measures during Festive Seasons
goooobobooobg

re-using decorations 100 100 100

oooooooooooocoooon In 2008-09, we continued to contribute to improving
00000000000 00000 air quality and reducing the emission of air pollutants in
000000000 UUUOoOooo accordance with the principles and spirit of the Clean Air
OoooooO0ooooooooon Charter. We will also continue with our efforts to reduce
000000000 UoUUoOoOooo energy and paper consumption and promote awareness of
o0oo0o0oo0o0o0000000o0oon green measures. With the implementation of Phase Il of
goooooooooboooon the Integrated Companies Registry Information System, we
ooooooood trust that this will further reduce the use of paper.
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Compliance and Enforcement

One of the main functions of the Registry is to ensure
timely compliance by companies and their officers with
their obligations under the Companies Ordinance, including
the filing of annual returns and accounts, reporting
changes of registered office addresses and changes in
particulars of directors and secretaries. This has been
achieved over the past years primarily through the taking
of prosecution actions against companies in default of their
filing obligations. In 2008-09, the prosecution policy was
reviewed by the Prosecution Policy Review Committee.
In view of the economic downturn in the latter half of
2008, the Committee, which is chaired by the Registrar of
Companies, considered that other than prosecution, more
resources could be devoted to education and publicity
campaigns to encourage compliance. As a result, a pilot
scheme on issuing "Notices to File" was launched to
encourage filing of annual returns before any prosecution
action. A brief summary of the pilot scheme is as
follows: —

e Defaulting companies are allowed 28 days from the
dates of the "Notices to File" to remedy their defaults

e Summonses will only be issued for prosecution if annual
returns remain outstanding upon the expiry of the 28
days’ period

Under the pilot scheme, 42.7 per cent of companies had filed
their annual returns after receiving the notices requesting
compliance.
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The table below provides some key statistics on compliance
and enforcement: —

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 .
oa oa oad ooao
Local Local Local  Non-HK"

O0o00ooOoooooooooooo
Percentage of companies filing 83.3% 83.5% 852%  81.4%
annual returns on time
Dooooon . 6,089 6,135 5,194
Numbers of summonses issued
Oooooooo
Total number of convictions 2,338 2,154 (R0
Hooo $13,497,429  $14,218,990 $14,443,555

Total fines awarded

* 0020040 00(00)00000000000000000000000000000O0O0000000000000000
* A non-Hong Kong company was required to file a full annual return after the commencement of the relevant provisions in Schedule 2 to the Companies

(Amendment) Ordinance 2004 on 14 December 2007.
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Number of complaints

In 2008-09, the Registry received 533 complaints from
members of the public and other government departments
regarding alleged breaches of the Companies Ordinance.
This represents an increase of 25.4 per cent from the previous
year. The table below shows the number of complaints for
the past three years: —

2006-07 2007-08  2008-09

520 425 533

goobobbooooooobooo
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goao

The majority of the complaints related to company names,
false or misleading information relating to applications
for deregistration of defunct solvent private companies,
failure to file annual returns and other statutory returns and
failure to provide accurate information in specified forms
or returns.
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Standing Committee on Company Law Reform
The Standing Committee on Company Law Reform (SCCLR)
is @ non-statutory advisory body formed in 1984 to review
the Companies Ordinance on a regular basis to ensure
that our company law meets with the changing needs
of the local business environment. The Registry provides
secretarial support to the SCCLR, which is currently chaired
by Mr Benjamin YU, Senior Counsel. During 2008-09, the
SCCLR had five meetings and considered a wide range of
proposals to amend and rewrite the Companies Ordinance.
In addition to the above meetings, six papers on various
company law reform proposals were circulated to SCCLR
members for consideration.

The SCCLR will publish its 25th Annual Report on its work
in 2008-09 in the latter half of 2009.

Legislation

Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2003
Section 67 of the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance
2003, which expands the scope of the index of directors
kept by the Registrar to include details of reserve directors
of private companies, took effect on 11 July 2008. All
other provisions contained in the Companies (Amendment)
Ordinance 2003 had already commenced operation on 13
February 2004.

Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2004
Schedule 2 to the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance
2004, which aims to modernise the registration regime
for non-Hong Kong companies, came into operation
on 14 December 2007. The remaining provisions in the
Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 relating to
the introduction of new incorporation forms for local
companies took effect on 11 July 2008.



020080 0000 Companies Ordinance

(Dooos)nnd (Amendment of Eighth Schedule) Order 2008
gz00800000(@OOO8)IOO The Companies Ordinance (Amendment of Eighth
O00oo00Oo2004000(00O)O0 Schedule) Order 2008, which introduces new search fees
0000220700 00000000 for the new incorporation forms provided under section 7
oooo0oDO0O0oooooooDoooog of Schedule 2 to the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance
O0000O000002004000 (0 2004, took effect on 11 July 2008 together with the
O)yooooooooooooo corresponding provisions in the Companies (Amendment)

Ordinance 2004.
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Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance

The Companies Ordinance Rewrite Exercise (the "Rewrite")
commenced in mid-2006, following the establishment of
a dedicated Companies Bill Team comprising staff of the
Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau and the Registry.
In 2008-09, the Companies Bill Team has worked full steam
ahead with a view to issuing a draft Companies Bill for
public consultation in late 2009.

In view of the extensive nature of the Rewrite, the entire
exercise has been divided into two phases. Phase | covers
the core provisions under the Companies Ordinance which
affect the daily operation of over 750,000 live companies
and Phase Il will cover the winding-up and other insolvency-
related provisions which are mainly administered by the
Official Receiver’s Office.

In the process, expert advice and inputs were sought
from four Advisory Groups specifically set up to assist in
formulating amendment proposals and recommendations
in various areas of company law. Recommendations from
the Joint Working Group between the Government and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which
was established in March 2002 to review the accounting
and auditing provisions of the Companies Ordinance and
the SCCLR, were also considered. To oversee the entire
process, a Steering Committee, chaired by the Permanent
Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury (Financial
Services), has been formed within the administration.
Three rounds of public consultation have been conducted
on various controversial issues since 2007. The conclusions
for the first consultation were issued in June 2008 and
the latter two in December 2008 and February 2009
respectively. Through these consultations, controversial
issues were distilled and thoroughly discussed and debated.
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The proposals in the rewrite mainly aim to strengthen
the accountability of directors, improve the transparency
and disclosure of company information, strengthen
auditors’ rights, foster shareholder protection and business
facilitation. Some major proposals are summarised in
Appendix D.

To tie in with the launch of Phase Il of the Integrated
Companies Registry Information System (ICRIS) in 2010-11,
legislative amendments will be introduced, in the form of a
Companies (Amendment) Bill, into the Legislative Council.
The Amendment Bill will seek to introduce, among other
things, legislative proposals to provide for electronic
incorporation of companies and filing of documents as well
as one-stop service for company incorporation and business
registration. We also propose to streamline the company
name registration system with a view to expediting the
company incorporation process and empowering the
Registrar of Companies to change the name of a company
to its company registration number if it fails to comply with
the Registrar of Companies’ direction of change of name.
It is expected that the Amendment Bill will be enacted in
2010-11.
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0Dooo0 Companies Registry

The Companies

».

As a corporate regulator, we acknowledge and promote the
importance of good corporate governance as we believe
that effective governance is vital to achieving the long
term strategic goals of a corporation and safe guarding the
interests of all its stakeholders. In this connection, we are
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance with a view to achieving the mission and vision of
the Registry, taking into account the needs of our customers
and public interest as a whole.

In the Registry, effective governance is achieved through
a number of measures to ensure accountability, internal
control, integrity, transparency and risk management in all
of its operations. The Registry’s performance in each area is
elaborated in the ensuing paragraphs.

REREE
Shareholder’s
Meetings

REFEH
Policy Bureau
Meetings
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Directorate

Registry Meetings
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Accountability

The Registry operates as a trading fund department and
provides services on a commercial or quasi-commercial
basis. Although trading fund departments do not have
the same autonomy as a statutory corporation, we
enjoy greater autonomy than traditional government
departments. Notwithstanding that, we are accountable to
the government for our operations and performance and a
strong governance structure is in place.

Meetings with the Financial Services and

the Treasury Bureau

Held on a bi-monthly basis, these meetings provide a
forum for the Registry’s policy bureau, the Financial Services
and the Treasury Bureau (Financial Services Branch), to
review the Registry’s business performance and any major
initiatives, both operational and legislative. We also
attended meetings with the Financial Services and the
Treasury Bureau (Treasury Branch) to review and monitor
the financial performance of the Registry every six months.

the Treasury (Financial Services)
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Internal Control

The Registry recognises the importance of a sound and
effective internal control system. On this, there are well-
established policies and regulations on administrative,
procurement and financial matters which ensure a proper
segregation of duties and a clear organisational structure
with defined authority.

Directorate Meetings

The Registrar of Companies meets with all her directorate
officers at monthly intervals to discuss and review the major
activities of the Registry, either in progress or in the pipeline,
to ensure proper planning and monitoring of the Registry’s
business. Through these meetings, policy, operational and
legislative issues are identified, deliberated and resolved
by the Registry’s senior management team in a timely and
efficient manner.

Development Steering Committee

The committee, chaired by the Registrar of Companies,
comprises members of the Registry’s senior management
and a representative of the Financial Services and the
Treasury Bureau. The committee is tasked to set objectives
for the Registry’s long term business development and
oversee the implementation of key initiatives and projects,
in particular the development of the Integrated Companies
Registry Information System. Monthly meetings are held to
consider new initiatives, review implementation progress,
and resolve development issues which require the input and
decision of the Registry’s senior management. Through
the operation of the Development Steering Committee,
major decisions in respect of the tendering procedure for
Phase Il of ICRIS as well as its monitor and implementation
have been made in a timely and transparent manner.
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Investment Strategy Committee

Chaired by the Registrar of Companies and comprising
senior managers from the Registry’s operational and
financial divisions, the Investment Strategy Committee
has been established to oversee the management of the
Companies Registry Trading Fund’s investment portfolio,
which consisted of various time deposits with licensed
banks in Hong Kong, totalling $486 million as at 31 March
2009. At periodical intervals and as and when the need
arises, the Committee meets to review the performance
of the Registry’s investment portfolio, its position and
considers alternative investment strategies and proposals.

Integrity

Integrity Management Committee

The Registry attaches great importance to integrity
management and supports the Government'’s sustained
efforts to entrench an ethical culture and maintain a clean
and honest civil service in Hong Kong. A Companies
Registry Integrity Management Committee has been set
up since 2007-08 to formulate a long term staff integrity
management strategy. The Action Programme for
2008-09 was satisfactorily implemented and promoted
staff awareness of and alertness to integrity issues and
various regulations and guidelines governing conduct and
discipline. The Committee meets regularly to monitor the
progress of the Action Programme and review the integrity-
management measures of the Registry.
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Transparency

Audit and Report

The Registry has to prepare annual accounts in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. The annual
accounts are audited by the Director of Audit. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Trading Funds Ordinance, the
audited annual accounts together with the annual report
of the Registry have to be tabled in the Legislative Council
not later than 31 October next following the end of each
financial year.

Code on Access to Information

The Registry has adopted the Code on Access to
Information since its introduction by the Government
in 1995. The Code provides a formal administrative
framework for the provision of information by the
Government to members of the public with the objective
of keeping the community well informed about the
Government, the services which it provides and the basis
for policies and decisions that affect individuals and the
community as a whole. The Registry is in full compliance
with the requirements of the Code in its handling of
requests for information.

Risk Management

The business of the Registry is carried out through
various information technology (IT) systems, including the
Integrated Companies Registry Information System and
internal e-mail communication system. To minimise IT risks
and to ensure that the systems add value to our business,
the Development Steering Committee oversees, inter alia,
the Registry’s IT functions and its interface with the
Registry’s core business activities to ensure the alignment
of IT systems with the corporate mission, policies and
objectives.
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IT security failure is costly to business. To ensure
information security, we have developed IT security policy,
Disaster Recovery Plan, Contingency Plan, Guidelines
on Information Security Incident Handling, End User
Instructions on IT Security and Departmental Contingency
Plan for compliance by staff. In particular, the Registry
keeps in pace with the prevailing guidelines and formulates
measures to tighten the security control on the use of
portable electronic storage devices, e.g. USB flash drive, to
avoid leakage of information.

On top of these instructions and guidelines, we have
continued to provide regular updates to staff with a view to
fostering security awareness and compliance with various
security policies and instructions. Regular IT security audits
are also performed by independent auditors to examine the
Registry’s IT security protection measures.

The Registry has developed a business continuity plan
to reduce business risk in the event of a disruption. This
includes a disaster recovery system supporting critical
functions or operations and ensuring the continuity of
a minimum level of services. We have also conducted
disaster recovery drills periodically to ascertain the proper
functioning of the disaster recovery system. Other than the
above measures, we have drawn up contingency plans to
tackle with exceptional circumstances, such as the outbreak
of infectious disease like the human swine influenza.
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Communication with Customers

One of the core values of the Registry is to care for and
respect our customers by listening to them and taking into
account their needs and expectations when shaping the
types and quality of service which we deliver. To this end,
the Registry has well-established communication channels
to collect the views and opinions of different customer
groups. The channels include regular meetings of the
Companies Registry Customer Liaison Group, courtesy visits
to our major customers, established means for customers’
feedback and suggestions and the annual customer survey.

The Registry values customers' feedback and suggestions.
During the year, we received 60 suggestions and comments
from customers through Customer Services Survey, Forms
for Suggestions/Comments, e-search Helpdesk and
the Companies Registry Customer Liaison Group. All
customers’ suggestions and comments are reviewed and,
where appropriate, implemented.

Website

The website of the Registry (www.cr.gov.hk) presents
comprehensive and up-to-date information on our core
business activities, changes in legislation, filing requirements
and our development programme. The website is
available in traditional Chinese, simplified Chinese and
English versions. The contents of the website are regularly
reviewed and updated so that customers are kept abreast
of the latest statutory and procedural requirements. During
2008-09, three new thematic sections, namely "Speeches
& Presentation”, "Annual Return of a Non-Hong Kong
Company" and "Licensing of Money Lenders", were
introduced on the website. We also provide 22 sets of
completed specimen forms as general guides for companies
and document presentors. Specified forms, publications
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such as the Companies Registry Annual Report, Reports
and Consultation Papers of the Standing Committee on
Company Law Reform, Consultation Papers on the rewrite
of the Companies Ordinance and external circulars issued
by the Registry may be downloaded from the Registry’s
website.

In 2008-09, our website was patronised 1,499,293 times,
representing an average of 124,941 per month. As at
31 March 2009, nearly 3,500 and 14,000 users have
subscribed to the Registry’s electronic news subscription
service and Annual Return e-Alert service respectively to
obtain regular updates of information and email reminders
for the filing of annual returns.

Enquiry Hotline

The Companies Registry Enquiry Hotline (852) (2234 9933)
answers enquiries about the Registry's services on a 24 x
7 basis. Callers may also obtain information pamphlets by
fax. For 2008-09, the number of calls received was 56,971,
averaging 4,748 per month, and requests for fax materials
totalled 2,580. In parallel, the enquiry hotline handled by
the 1823 Call Centre received 60,843 calls regarding the
Registry’s services, averaging 5,070 per month.
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Publications

A variety of publications including external circulars,
guidelines, information pamphlets and reports are
published by the Registry. The publications are distributed
to professional bodies, major customers and subscribers to
the electronic news subscription service and may also be
downloaded from the Registry’s website. Hard copies of
the publications are available at the information counters of
our office.

Seminars and Exhibitions

To showcase our services to the business community,
the Registry participated in the Directors’ Conference
2008 organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
in April 2008, the Corporate Governance Conference
2008 organised by the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries in September 2008 and the World Small and
Medium-sized Enterprises Expo 2008 organised by the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council in December 2008.
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In 2008-09, the Registrar of Companies gave the following
presentations: —

April and November 2008 — Guest lectures on" Company
Law Reform in Hong Kong" to undergraduate students
of the School of Accountancy of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong

May 2008 — "Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance"
at a luncheon seminar organised by the Hutchison
Whampoa Group

June 2008 — "Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance"
at a seminar organised by the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants

September 2008 — "Rewrite of the Companies
Ordinance" at a seminar organised by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants

November 2008 — An update on company law in the
"Expert Series-Meeting with Distinguished Speaker"
organised by the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries

January 2009 — "An update on company law and the
rewrite" at a seminar organised by the Hong Kong
Securities Institute

March/April 2009 — "Reforming Business Registration in
Hong Kong" at the World Bank Workshop organised by
the World Bank in Cape Town, South Africa

March/April 2009 — "Hong Kong Experience in Corporate
Law Administration" at the Corporate Registers Forum
held in Cape Town, South Africa
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O0o00ooooooooooao Other talks or presentations given by the Registry
ood— include: —

0oo0oob00 —DbOO00OOoo e July 2008 — Presentations on "Company Record"

Oooooooooooooogd and "Common Errors in Documents Lodged with the
Oo0ooooooooooood Companies Registry" to the Planning Department and
ooo0oooooooo members of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered

Secretaries, respectively

00000000 —O000oooo e September 2008 — A seminar on "Rewrite of the

Oo0ooooooooooood Companies Ordinance — An Update" to the members of
0000d0o0oooooooooo the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
googgno

00000000 —oooooo e QOctober 2008 — A presentation on "Incorporation of a
odooo0ooooogooooo Local Limited Company and Registration of a Non-Hong
Oo0000o0ooooooooog Kong company in Hong Kong" for the "Start-up Tips

Seminar" organised by Hang Seng Bank Limited

000000000 —ooooo e December 2008 — A presentation on "Procedures on

O000oO0ooooooooood Incorporation of a Limited Company in Hong Kong and a
gzo080000000O0OOOO Company’s Obligation after Incorporation" in the World
Oooooooooooooogd SME Expo 2008 organised by the Hong Kong Trade
ood Development Council

0O 00o00Do0 —Oo0ooooo e January 2009 — A seminar on "Update of the Companies

O000OoOooboooobDoog Ordinance" to members of Certified Public Accountants,
godoooooobogooooogoo Australia
ogogd

gooo0ooooooooOoooOooboOooon
goo0ooooOoooooa

The Registrar of Companies giving a presentation on "Reforming

Business Registration in Hong Kong" at the World Bank Workshop

in South Africa

p Il
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e February 2009 — Presentations on "Rewrite of the
Companies Ordinance" and "Hong Kong Company
Law and Prosecution" to members of Certified Public
Accountants, Australia and the Commercial Crime
Bureau of the Hong Kong Police Force, respectively

Contact with the Community

The Registry receives visitors from other government
departments, local professional bodies and educational
institutions from time to time. These visits provide very
good opportunities for visitors to understand our services
and the company registration system in Hong Kong.

Liaison with Other Jurisdictions

The Registry continues to foster and develop contacts with
counterparts in the Mainland and other jurisdictions. These
contacts enable us to exchange ideas and share experience
with other registries regarding the provision of company
registration services and the development of corporate
governance in other jurisdictions, which in turn help us
formulate new initiatives and strategies in enhancing the
quality of our services.

During the year, delegations from the Registry paid visits to
other registries or attended international forum in order to
establish and foster links with other registries: —

e July 2008 — The Registrar of Companies, leading a
delegation comprising senior officials from the Financial
Services and the Treasury Bureau and the Registry, visited
the Guangdong Provincial Administration for Industry
and Commerce and the Guangzhou Administration for
Industry and Commerce

e November 2008 — The Registrar of Companies and two
senior officers of the Registry visited the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority in Singapore
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0oooo Companies Registry

e March 2009 — The Registrar of Companies and senior
officials of the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau
and the Registry attended the sixth Corporate Registers
Forum in Cape Town, South Africa. The Forum was
attended by more than 130 delegates representing
over 30 jurisdictions globally and the World Bank.
Hong Kong was elected as a member of the Executive
Council of the Forum and Hong Kong was also
appointed as the Treasurer for the Forum

From April to July 2008, our Registry Solicitor also joined
the Hong Kong delegation in attending Face-to-Face
Meeting of the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) in Paris,
the Third Plenary Meeting of FATF in London and the Asia /
Pacific Group Annual Meeting in Bali.

gooooooooooa
goooboooooono
Delegates to the 6th Corporate
Registers Forum in Cape Town,
South Africa
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In 2008-09, the Registry received visitors from regulatory
authorities and professional bodies from the Mainland,
Belgium, Guernsey, Malaysia and New Zealand. They
included government officials from the Guangzhou
Administration for Industry and Commerce, Shanghai
Pudong Municipal Government, the Guernsey Registry
and Guernsey Finance, the Prime Minister Department and
National Productivity Corporation of Malaysia, the New
Zealand Companies Office and the Minister for Economy
and Reform of Belgium.

As in the past, attachment programmes to the Registry for
Mainland officials from the State Administration for Industry
and Commerce and the provincial office of Shanghai and
Ningbo were organised. An attachment programme was
also arranged for an official from the Samoa International
Finance Authority in October 2008. For the first time,
two of our senior officers were attached to the State
Administration for Industry and Commerce and the Beijing
Administration for Industry and Commerce in November
2008. These attachment programmes provided good
opportunities for our staff in enhancing their understanding
of company registration practice and regulatory frameworks
in other jurisdictions.

goooobobooooboooa
The Minister for Economy and Reform of Belgium visiting the Registry
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Business Review

Affected by the global economic downturn, the revenue of
the Registry has been declining since August 2008. As the
prospect of a turnaround in the latter part of 2009 remains

uncertain, we have adopted a prudent approach in our
projection of the business for 2009-10 and we estimate
that the rate of return on average net fixed assets for
2009-10 will just meet the target rate of 8.3 per cent.

Although the Registry possesses a healthy financial reserve
to help finance future capital investment, along with well
established systems and procedures, and a nucleus of
experienced and dedicated staff who are supportive of
changes and continuous enhancement of services, certain
operational aspects and procedures are labour intensive
and our financial performance depends heavily on the
overall economic situation. Any slowdown in the economy
inevitably affects company activities which, in turn, have an
adverse impact on the Registry’s financial performance.

While it might be possible to reduce or contain expenditure,
the scope for reduction is limited, as staff costs make up
about 70 per cent of the Registry’s operating budget, and
a reduction in the number of staff would, more often than
not, have to be done at the expense of service quality.
Faced with the economic downturn, the Registry continues
to collect customers’ views on its services and demand
for new services through its Customer Liaison Group, the
annual customer survey and courtesy visits to customers.
The Registry is actively exploring the possibility of
introducing new or enhanced services to meet customers'’
needs in a changing environment.
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Integrated Companies Registry

Information System

Over the past few years, the Registry has pursued a
continuous development programme to expand the nature
and scope of its services to the public. One of the major

initiatives was the phased implementation of the Integrated
Companies Registry Information System (ICRIS), which
replaced the Registry’s pre-existing computer systems,
transformed its core business activities and facilitated the
realisation of its eventual goal of establishing a paperless
operation.

The implementation of Phase | of ICRIS on 28 February
2005 transformed the Registry’s core business activities. All
paper documents submitted to the Registry are converted
into digitised images upon receipt. Document images are
routed to the processing sections in accordance with pre-
defined rules to facilitate data entry, system verification and
online scrutiny by staff. Image records of documents are
almost instantly available for public search after registration.
The new operational procedures under Phase | of ICRIS
have led to a significant reduction in the amount of time
taken to process and register documents, more timely
updating and disclosure of company information, enhanced
data security and integrity, and improved productivity,
resulting in reduced operating costs. Customers can now
conduct company searches over the Internet on current
data and over 100 million digitised images of company
documents kept in the Registry’s database. Our electronic
search services have received overwhelming support from
the business community and very positive feedback from
customers. A helpdesk service to answer customers’
enquiries is also available on a 24-hour basis every day.
At present, over 98 per cent of company searches are
conducted online.
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The Registry has been continuously enhancing ICRIS to
cater for the changing needs of its customers. Major
system enhancements carried out in 2008-09 to implement
legislative and procedural changes, and to improve
functionality include the following: —

e Upgrade of servers and the bandwidth of data
communication line to ensure ICRIS has sufficient
capacity to handle the Registry’s workload

e Introduction of new incorporation forms for local
companies in July 2008

e Expansion of the Index of Directors to include particulars
of reserve directors

e Introduction of a new online viewing function for search
of company information
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Looking Ahead

The Registry is committed to continuously enhancing the
quality of its customer service. In June 2009, we awarded
the contract for the development of Phase Il of ICRIS which
will, upon its launch in 2010-11, facilitate the electronic
incorporation of companies and filing of documents over
the Internet, as well as the provision of one-stop service for
electronic company incorporation and business registration.
A Task Force on Electronic Incorporation, chaired by the
Registrar of Companies, has been established to map out
the new procedures for electronic company incorporation
and business registration.

To embrace the challenges in the years ahead, the Registry
has taken a number of initiatives to strengthen its core
competencies in fulfilling its vision and mission. Specifically,
our objectives include the following: —

e To develop and implement Phase Il of ICRIS, in stages
from 2010-11 to 2012-13, to introduce the electronic
incorporation of companies and filing of documents over
the Internet

e To support the Government in the preparation and issue
of a draft Companies Bill for public consultation in late
2009, with a view to introducing the new Companies Bill
to the Legislative Council in late 2010

e To provide one-stop service for electronic company
incorporation and business registration in 2010-11

e To further expedite and streamline procedures for
incorporation, registration and search services to meet
market needs

e To promote a high level of compliance with statutory
obligations under the Companies Ordinance through
publicity campaigns, education, and more effective
enforcement
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ooooo Companies Registry

e To strengthen staff knowledge and skills through various
forms of training, in order to meet the Registry’s needs
and the changing demands of its customers, and to
facilitate their long term career development

e To explore new business opportunities: e.g. introducing
"package" or "tailor-made" search services, taking into
account feedback from customers; and

e To foster links with corporate registries in the Mainland
and overseas jurisdictions by establishing official contacts
with those registries, arranging attachment/exchange
programmes and attending the annual global Corporate
Registers Forum

As set out on page 4 of this report, we strive to achieve
world-wide recognition as an excellent Companies Registry
giving the community a quality service.
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00000000 D0000O00
Key Workload Statistics for 2009

oo3go31o0oon 0/A0)00D
Year to 31 March %
Increase / (Decrease)
2009 2008

oo New Companies

aooo Incorporations

—0oood — public companies 675 723 (6.6)

—0oon — private companies 108,741 100,789 7.9

oooooooo Non-Hong Kong companies 783 833 (6.0)

registered
oooooo General Registration
of Documents

ooooogo Documents received 1,776,575 1,981,346 (10.3)

ooooono Charges received 31,390 41,822 (24.9)

oooooono Change of name notifications 10,875 11,698 (7.0)

ooooooo Voluntary liquidation notices 944 902 4.7
ooood Company Search

ooDoooooog Document image records searches 2,914,702 2,991,074 (2.6)

oooooo Company particulars searches 157,462 139,389 13.0

oooooon Directors index searches 241,189 197,121 224
oo Prosecution

ooog Summonses issued 5,194 6,135 (15.3)
ooogo Striking Off Action

oooDoooDoog Companies struck off 19,028 15,028 26.6
oooo Deregistration

oooooooa Companies deregistered 22,888 22,198 3.1

Doooo Companies Registry



oooooood
Number of Companies Incorporated

115,000
110,000
105,000
100,000
95,000
90,000
85,000
80,000
75,000
70,000
65,000

60,000

109,416
|

101,512 /

84,545

75817 /
66,466 /

04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

good
Charges Received for Registration

45,000

40,000

35,000

30,000

25,000

41,822

31,892 31,890

32,315

|
31,390

04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

goobooood
Documents Received for Registration

2,100,000

2,000,000

1,900,000

1,800,000

1,700,000

1,600,000

1,500,000

1,981,346
1,750,928 L
1,776,575
1,680,222 /
1,624,230
04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

ogooooooao
Document Image Records Searches

3,500,000

3,000,000

2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

29910745 914,702
2,740,830 ——nm
2,622,086 /
/
221,081
04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

*00000000000000000
Service available since 28 February 2005
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00000000000000000
Statistical Highlights from 1999 to 2009

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

(0600
first 6 months)

U000 LOCAL COMPANIES

000000 Incorporations
—Qoooo
Public companies
-goobooD
Limited by shares

-oooooo

. 356 383 345 462 373 459 547 537 718 650 375
Limited by guarantee

—0oood

. . 35,197 42,971 37,911 46,088 49,674 65093 72,809 81,432 100,041 97,985 51,586
Private companies

OO0O0Ooag Conversions

—QO0o0o0oooooooo
Public companies to 11 10 14 4 6 9 7 9 6 6 5
private companies

—QO0ooooooooo
Private companies to 7 11 5 5 7 5 6 " 22 18 4
public companies

0 00O Restorations

—ogoo
Public companies 7 3 3 2 1 - - 1 5 - i
—oood 94 79 111 93 106 124 140 188 161 225 127

Private companies

O O Dissolutions
— Qg
Liquidation

—Qoooo (o190 tooo)
Deregistration (starting from N/A 9,767 20,219 21,380 18,936 19,225 18,665 19,962 21,714 22,468 12,184
November 1999)

—Qoooo
Striking-off

3,747 3,312 2,090 1,978 2,319 1,961 1,752 1,653 2,113 1,922 1,011

15,620 9,747 17,185 30,560 34,606 22,922 22,156 17,830 13,998 18,749 8,583

— Qg 1
Others

ooooooooooooo
No. of companies on register
at end of year

—0oooo

. . 6,058 6,310 6,576 6,922 7,171 7,562 7,912 8,376 9,052 9,665 10,013
Public companies

—0oood

. . 484,830 505,193 503,804 496,189 490,235 511,418 541,320 583,568 645986 701,101 731,069
Private companies

00 including

-00oooo

. 3,748 3,809 3,925 4,020 4,110 4,451 4,768 5,131 5,546 6,041 6,553
Dormant companies

0ooooooooog
ooooooooon

ooooo 585 606 626 644 661 666 672 688 696 710 732
Companies licensed to

dispense with the word

“Limited" in their names

00000 Companies Registry



0000 REGISTRATION

1999

OF DOCUMENTS

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008 2009

(060D
first 6 months)

oooooo

Total no. of documents
received

00 including

—Qooooo
Annual returns

—ogoooo
Change of company name

—ogoo
Increase of share capital

—Qoooo
Reduction of share capital

—0aa
Charges
00O

Charges

-gpooooog
Memorandum of discharge

—O0o0000oooo
Notices of appointment of
receiver

1,445,501

381,568

9,787

5,595

11

20,139

19,342

195

0000 COMPANY SEARCH

0ooooonD/oooo
(2005020280000
ooo)

Microfiches/Paper files search
(service ceased on
28 February 2005)

oooooooo
(2005020280000
ooo)

Document image records search
(service available since
28 February 2005)

oooooao
Directors index search

gooooo
(2000030310000
oog)

Company particulars search

(service available since
31 March 2000)

1,636,075

N/A

928

N/A

1,468,597

377,714

12,312

6,263

11

23,411

19,668

250

1,660,690

N/A

11,916

5,400

1,416,161

393,364

9,698

5,510

18

22,576

19,203

316

1,690,984

N/A

67,249

47,379

1,498,231

381,611

10,228

5,591

20

20,741

16,763

205

1,575,561

N/A

103,554

60,887

1,505,144

371,092

10,223

5,778

26

20,193

15,193

176

1,548,891

N/A

121,964

82,616

1,634,452

390,750

10,491

6,181

26

30,380

21,804

131

1,585,314

N/A

153,212

95,518

1,649,466

420,569

10,049

5,870

23

33,470

26,945

51

225,919

2,196,679

133,996

107,872

1,730,040

457,510

10,808

5,955

19

30,349

21,653

58

N/A

2,706,566

152,114

122,705

1,938,691

497,384

11,538

6,395

19

38,506

24,271

42

N/A

2,906,186

187,264

134,631

1,859,205 815,920

549,496 300,876

11,216 6,249
6,145 2,842
16 12
38,933 9,855

28,504 9,545

N/A N/A

3,015,954 1,399,896s

237,764 115,205

157,325 75,347

00 Annual Report 2008-09

69



0O B
APPENDIX B

00 Year

0000 COMPANY LIQ

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

(060D
first 6 months)

UIDATION

gooooo
Members’ voluntary
winding-up
—QOooonog
Cases commenced

—0Ooooooo
Cases in progress

gooooono

Creditors’ voluntary
winding-up

—QOooonog
Cases commenced

—0Ooooooo
Cases in progress

U O PROSECUTIONS

3,067 1,581 1,178 1,085 946 825 788 776 761 749 400
3,000 1,870 1,518 1,333 1,235 1.141 1,150 1,137 1,128 1,158 1,124
322 164 229 267 217 256 192 175 139 172 132
573 490 560 657 589 636 656 600 571 615 670

gooood
Summonses issued

ooood
Total fines (HK$'0000 O0)

172 235 238 139 1,351 1,474 3,462 6,028 6,125 5,442 2,495

431 751 254 862 1,504 5,670 9,584 13,710 13,516 15,908 3,349

LIFIED PERSONS

0000000 DISQUA

oooooooo
goooooooo

No. of disqualified persons on
register at end of year

00000 NON-HONG

70 69 105 123 140 178 199 229 243 266 264

KONG COMPANIES

oooooooooobooo

Newly registered
non-Hong Kong
companies

gooooooobogn
ood

Ceased to have a place of
business in Hong Kong

ooboooooooooo
oooo

No. of non-Hong Kong
companies on register
at end of year

N/A =000 Not Applicable

70

0oooo Companies Registry

658 814 812 700 724 735 620 608 748 872 281
341 350 448 447 451 439 411 387 376 467 989
5,629 6,093 6,457 6,710 6,983 7,279 7,488 7,709 8,081 8,487 7,779




OD00000O00O00O0O00 No. of companies on register at end of year
2000 2002 2003 2006 2008

1999 2001 2004 2005 2007 0020090

60300
At 30 June
2009

oooooOooOooXiImoooooooooo@ooooog)

DISTRIBUTION OF NON-HONG KONG COMPANIES REGISTERED UNDER PART XI OF
THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE BY PLACE OF INCORPORATION

oo . 107 112 121 116 110 110 106 113 109 106 68
Australia
ooo
538 592 617 632 638 642 643 647 648 647 630
Bermuda
ooooooo 1,816 2,044 2215 2372 2,493 2655 2,754' 2,876 3,09 3306 3,192
British Virgin Islands
Dooo 234 332 442 532 583 630 677 729 791 874 840
Cayman Islands
oo
318 304 297 283 281 274 260 257 249 249 203
Japan
[!DD_D 131 140 132 124 182 179 154 120 124 168 164
Liberia
oo 80 93 104 111 133 177 212 229 242 291 288
Panama
good
108 119 129 155 186 204 207 231 237 241 236
The Mainland of China
aoood
. 212 224 227 218 224 227 241 238 244 244 217
Singapore
0o R
. . 398 400 407 395 393 388 400 412 426 431 359
United Kingdom
. D . 796 799 776 756 729 736 734 730 724 721 573
United States of America
0o R
891 934 990 1,016 1,031 1,057 1,100 1,127 1,193 1,209 1,009
Others

T 00 Restated
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000000
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goonoooooooonboOoDnO
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3g3l0ouooooooooon
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goodooooood
oboooooobooboobo
0000000000 OD4300)
0740000000000000
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goooObooooooobobooo
gooobooooooobooo
oooobbOoooooobbooo
goooObooooooobobooo
gooobooooooobooo
obooboobobobon

googgo
goooboooooooobooo
oooobbOoooooobbooo
oooov7(G)Do0o0O0OO0OOOOO
gooobooooooobooo
oooobbOoooooobbooo
goooObooooooobobooo
aood

gooooboboooooooooon
goooooooooooobon

Doooo Companies Registry

Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region

Independent Audit Report
To the Legislative Council

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial
statements of the Companies Registry Trading Fund set out
on pages 75 to 99, which comprise the balance sheet as at
31 March 2009, and the profit and loss account, statement
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

General Manager, Companies Registry Trading
Fund’s responsibility for the financial statements
The General Manager, Companies Registry Trading Fund
is responsible for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap.430)
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on my audit. | conducted
my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing
standards. Those standards require that | comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
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statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the General Manager, Companies Registry Trading Fund, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Companies Registry
Trading Fund as at 31 March 2009 and of its results of
operations and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
manner provided in section 7(4) of the Trading Funds
Ordinance.

(CHAN Bar-keung)
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission

26th Floor, Immigration Tower
7 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

10 September 2009
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Annual Accounts of the Companies Registry Trading Fund
for the Year Ended 31 March 2009

0000000000740 00000
Prepared and submitted pursuant to section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance
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Companies Registry Trading Fund Profit and Loss Account

002000030310 000
for the Year Ended 31 March 2009

(ODODoooooo) oo

(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008
ood Turnover 3) 389,325 366,436
ooog Operating costs 4) (242,478) (229,484)
ooog Profit from operations 146,847 136,952
ooog Other income (5) 11,477 17,135
ooooo Profit before tax 158,324 154,087
OO Taxation (6) (23,585) (23,942)
oooon Profit after tax 134,739 130,145
Oood Dividend (7) (134,739) (65,073)
OoDoog Profit retained 0 65,072
ooooooo Rate of return on fixed assets (8) 30.6% 26.8%

O00D00000000000000000oOoDOO0O0
The notes on pages 81 to 99 form part of these financial statements.
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Companies Registry Trading Fund Balance Sheet

0200901 3001 3107
as at 31 March 2009

(OCoooooono) oo
(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008
Oo0o0oono Non-current assets
Oooooooo Property, plant and equipment 9) 349,873 351,959
ooog Intangible assets (10) 44,036 60,327
393,909 412,286
oooo Current assets
ooooooooo Debtors and prepayments 8,326 10,704
ooooooooo Amounts due from related parties 3,895 1,115
oogoo Bank deposits 486,000 409,800
ooooooo Cash and bank balances 11,963 16,330
510,184 437,949
oooad Current liabilities
oooo Creditors (18,476) (23,762)
ooooooooo Amounts due to related parties (28,851) (38,235)
ooog Tax payable (7,325) (9,022)
(54,652) (71,019)
oo0ooono Net current assets 455,532 366,930
oooooooon Total assets less current liabilities 849,441 779,216
ooooo Non-current liabilities
ooog Deferred tax (11) (8,420) (11,291)
ooooogo Provision for employee benefits (50,936) (47,506)
(59,356) (58,797)
OO0 NET ASSETS 790,085 720,419

Doooo Companies Registry




(Coooooon) ao

(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008

ooooo CAPITAL AND RESERVES
ocooooo Trading fund capital (12) 138,460 138,460
oooog Retained earnings (13) 516,886 516,886
oooo Proposed dividend 134,739 65,073
790,085 720,419

OgooooooOobOooOooo0oooooooooon
The notes on pages 81 to 99 form part of these financial statements.

V(V‘k\—\

e,

b
e=nr

0000000 MsAdaLL Chung, JP

OO0D0DO0DOO0O0O Registrar of Companies and
000000000000 General Manager, Companies Registry Trading Fund
OO0O0O0O0O0000 10 September 2009
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Companies Registry Trading Fund Statement of Changes in Equity

gQg2000030310000
for the Year Ended 31 March 2009

(OCoooooon) oa

(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008
oooooo Balance at beginning of year 720,419 649,592
ooooooog Profit after tax for the year 134,739 130,145
oooooo Dividend paid during the year (65,073) (59,318)
oooooon Balance at end of year 790,085 720,419

goooooboobooboooooooooooooon
The notes on pages 81 to 99 form part of these financial statements.
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Companies Registry Trading Fund Cash Flow Statement

OQg2000030310000
for the Year Ended 31 March 2009

(ODoOboooooo) oo
(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008
ooooooo Cash flows from
oooo operating activities
ggoono Profit from operations 146,847 136,952
ooooo Depreciation and amortisation 38,108 35,990
O0000@O)MO (Decrease)/ Increase in creditors (4,617) 4,399
oooooooboooog (Decrease) / Increase in amounts (9,215) 8,329
(Oo)mo due to related parties
oooooooon Increase in provision for 2,761 3,973

employee benefits

oooooooboooog Increase in debtors and (111) (4,816)
OO0 prepayments

0000000000 Increase in amounts due (2,780) (514)
od from related parties

ooooo Profits tax paid (28,153) (23,164)

oooooog Net cash from 142,840 161,149
OO0 operating activities

ooooooo Cash flows from
oood investing activities

ooooooog Increase in bank deposits (124,600) (36,400)
(Cooooao) (other than cash equivalents)

ooono Interest received 13,966 16,889

oooooooboonoog Purchase of property, plant and (19,900) (21,419)
ooooo equipment and intangible assets

oooooog Net cash used in (130,534) (40,930)

oooo investing activities
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Companies Registry Trading Fund Cash Flow Statement (continued)

OoQg2000030310000
for the Year Ended 31 March 2009

(Oooooooo) aad

(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars) Note 2009 2008

ooooooo Cash flows from
oooo financing activities

oooo Dividend paid (65,073) (59,318)

ooooooo Net cash used in (65,073) (59,318)
oooo financing activities

ogoooooo Net (decrease) / increase in cash (52,767) 60,901
(ODo)/oo00o and cash equivalents

ooooooo Cash and cash equivalents at 102,730 41,829
oooo beginning of year

ooooooo Cash and cash equivalents at (14) 49,963 102,730
oooo end of year

0gooooooOobOoooooooooooooooo
The notes on pages 81 to 99 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(0DooooOoOoOooooooon)
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

1.
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1.

General

The Companies Registry Trading Fund (“the CRTF") was
established on 1 August 1993 under the Legislative
Council Resolution passed on 30 June 1993 pursuant
to sections 3, 4 and 6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance
(Cap. 430). The CRTF provides its customers with
services and facilities to incorporate companies and to
register and examine company documents.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"),
a collective term which includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").
A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the CRTF is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and
revised HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period. There have been no changes
to the accounting policies applied in these financial
statements for the years presented as a result of
these developments.

The CRTF has not applied any new standard that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period
(note 18).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of

these financial statements is historical cost.
00 Annual Report 2008-09
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oDoooo Companies Registry

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

There are no critical accounting judgements
involved in the application of the CRTF's accounting
policies. There are also no key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the next year.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) The CRTF recognises financial assets and
financial liabilities on the date it becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured initially at fair value,
which normally equals to the transaction
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(iii)

prices, plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset or issue of the financial liability.

The CRTF’s financial assets consist of loans and
receivables which are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and
which the CRTF has no intention of trading.
They are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less impairment
losses, if any. The carrying amount of loans
and receivables is reviewed at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. If any
impairment evidence exists, a loss is recognised
in the profit and loss account as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. If in a subsequent period, the
amount of such impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through the profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

A financial asset is derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the financial asset expire, or where the
financial asset together with substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment appropriated to the
CRTF on 1 August 1993 were measured initially at
deemed cost equal to the value contained in the
Legislative Council Resolution for the setting up of
the CRTF. Property, plant and equipment acquired
since 1 August 1993 are capitalised at their costs of
acquisition.

The following property, plant and equipment are
stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(f)):

— buildings held for own use appropriated to the
CRTF on 1 August 1993; and

— plant and equipment, including computer
equipment, furniture and fittings, motor
vehicles and other equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings 30 years
— Computer equipment 3 -5 years
— Furniture and fittings 5 years

— Motor vehicles and other equipment 5 years

— The land on which the CRTF's buildings are
situated as appropriated to the CRTF on
1 August 1993 is regarded as a non-
depreciating asset.
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Gains or losses arising from the disposal of
property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, and are
recognised in the profit and loss account at the
date of disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer
software licences and capitalised development costs
of computer software programmes. Expenditure
on development of computer software programmes
is capitalised if the programmes are technically
feasible and the CRTF has sufficient resources
and the intention to complete development. The
expenditure capitalised includes direct labour and
costs of materials. Intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses (note 2(f)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the
profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets, including
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
identify any indication of impairment. If there is
an indication of impairment, an impairment loss is
recognised in the profit and loss account whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its net selling price and value
in use.
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(9) Income tax

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Government requires the CRTF to pay a
notional profits tax calculated on the basis of
the provisions of the Inland Revenue Ordinance
(Cap. 112). Tax expense for the year comprises
current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available
against which the assets can be utilised, are
recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.
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The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset
is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available.

(h) Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue is recognised as services are provided.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or a financial liability and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the CRTF estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instruments but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

Employee benefits

Salaries and annual leave are accrued and
recognised as expenditure in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by the staff. Staff
oncosts including pensions provided to the staff
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(k)

by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region are charged to the CRTF and
charged as expenditure in the year in which the
associated services are rendered.

Related parties

The CRTF is a separate accounting entity within the
Government established under the Trading Funds
Ordinance. During the year, the CRTF has entered
into transactions with various related parties,
including government bureaux and departments,
trading funds and financially autonomous bodies
controlled or significantly influenced by the
Government, in the ordinary course of its business.

Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

3. 000 3. Turnover

2009 2008
oopooooo Charges registration fees 16,418 18,995
ooooooo Incorporation fees 187,385 174,336
ogooooo Annual registration fees 102,823 89,359
ooooooo Search and copying fees 49,608 49,057
ooooooooo Fees for administration and collection services 7.112 6,943
ooano Others fees 25,979 27,746
oo Total 389,325 366,436

Doooo Companies Registry




4, 0O0O0O 4. Operating costs
2009 2008
oooo Staff costs 165,024 156,778
oooogao General operating expenses 37,190 35,121
ooooono Central administration overheads 1,699 1,159
ooooo Depreciation and amortisation 38,108 35,990
ooano Audit fees 457 436
oog Total 242,478 229,484
5. 0000 5. Other income
2009 2008
oooogoo Interest from bank deposits 11,477 17,135
6. OO 6. Taxation

(@ OOOODO0OODoOOOoOO

represents:

(a) Taxation charged to the profit and loss account

2009 2008

oo0ono Current tax

oooooog Provision for notional profits tax 26,456 27,029
ooo for the year

oooo Deferred tax

ooooooog Origination and reversal of (2,226) (3,087)
ooo temporary differences

oooooooo Reduction in opening (645) —
ooooooo deferred taxes resulting
OO0 from reduction in tax rate

goooono Total tax expense 23,585 23,942
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(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

oooood accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
2009 2008

ooooog Profit before tax 158,324 154,087

O000000016.5%  Tax at Hong Kong profits 26,123 26,965
(20080 0 17.5%) tax rate of 16.5%
ooooo (20080 17.5%)

2007-080 00000 One-off tax reduction in 2007-08 — (25)
goono

ooooooooo Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (1,893) (2,998)
od

00000000000  Reduction in opening deferred tax (645) —
gooooo resulting from reduction in tax rate

gooooo Actual tax expense 23,585 23,942

7. OO

goozo09030310000
uoi103,473.900 0000
0 0O (20080 O 6,507.30 0)0
00000000 0d100%
(20080 0 50%)0 O 0 50%0
Oooo (20080 00)0
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7. Dividend

An amount equivalent to 100% of the profit after
tax (2008: 50%) of $134.739 million (2008: $65.073
million), 50% of which is special dividend (2008: Nil), is
proposed as dividend to the Government for the year
ended 31 March 2009.

Rate of return on fixed assets

The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as
profit after tax (excluding interest income and interest
expenses) divided by average net fixed assets, and
expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets.
The CRTF is expected to meet a target rate of return
on fixed assets of 8.3% per year as determined by the
Financial Secretary.



9. D00OUOOOOO 9. Property, plant and equipment

oo ooao oooo
oo gooo aad oooo gd
Furniture Office and
Land and Computer and specialist
buildings equipment fittings equipment Total
00 Cost
0200704010 At 1 April 2007 398,511 23,324 7,545 275 429,655
oad Additions — 212 5,891 — 6,103
020080 30 310 At 31 March 2008 398,511 23,536 13,436 275 435,758
0o Additions — 5,706 3,273 — 8,979
02009030310 At 31 March 2009 398,511 29,242 16,709 275 444,737
oooo Accumulated depreciation
0200704010 At 1 April 2007 59,251 13,922 604 275 74,052
oooo Charge for the year 4,445 3,226 2,076 — 9,747
02008030310 At 31 March 2008 63,696 17,148 2,680 275 83,799
oooo Charge for the year 4,445 3,711 2,909 — 11,065
02009 030310 At 31 March 2009 68,141 20,859 5,589 275 94,864
oood Net book value
02009030310 At 31 March 2009 330,370 8,383 11,120 — 349,873

020080 30 310 At 31 March 2008 334,815 6,388 10,756 — 351,959
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100000 10. Intangible assets
goooood
gooooa
Computer software
licences and system
development costs
2009 2008
oo Cost
ooo At beginning of year 140,920 130,290
0o Additions 10,752 10,630
goog At end of year 151,672 140,920
oooo Accumulated amortisation
ooo At beginning of year 80,593 54,350
oood Charge for the year 27,043 26,243
ooo At end of year 107,636 80,593
oood Net book value
ooo At end of year 44,036 60,327
11.0000 11. Deferred tax

ooooooooooooon
ooooooooooooon
uobooooooboooooon

The deferred tax liability recognised in the balance sheet
arises entirely from depreciation allowances which are
in excess of the related depreciation and amortisation.

oooo The movements during the year are as follows:

2009 2008
oooooo Balance at beginning of year 11,291 14,378
oooooo Credited to profit and loss account (2,871) (3,087)
ooooog Balance at end of year 8,420 11,291
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12.000000 12. Trading fund capital
O00o0oO0ooooooooo This represents the Government's investment in the
Oooono CRTF.

13.0000 13. Retained earnings

2009 2008
oooooo Balance at beginning of year 516,886 451,814
oo0ooooo Profit after tax for the year 134,739 130,145
ooono Proposed dividend (134,739) (65,073)
oooooo Balance at end of year 516,886 516,886
14. 0000000 14. Cash and cash equivalents
2009 2008
oo0oooon Cash and bank balances 11,963 16,330
ooog Bank deposits 38,000 86,400
(Cooooo) (cash equivalents portion)
oo0oooon Cash and cash equivalents 49,963 102,730
oood at end of year
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5. 00000000
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oobooooooboooooon
obooooboboboon
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001,077.00 0 (20080 O
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001,701.10 O (20080
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15. Related party transactions
Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial
statements, the other material related party transactions
for the year are summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

Services provided to related parties included
search and copying services, collection of certain
tax-loaded fees and bona vacantia, and the
administration of the Money Lenders Registry on
behalf of the Government. The total revenue
derived from these services amounted to $10.770
million (2008 : $10.566 million);

Services received from related parties included
services on acquisition of stores, mail, printing,
training, information technology, building
management, rental of accommodation, central
administration and auditing. The total cost incurred
on these services amounted to $17.011 million
(2008 : $14.812 million); and

Capital expenditure in relation to information
technology and renovation services provided by
related parties amounted to $3.146 million (2008 :
$5.857 million).

Services provided by or to related parties were charged
at the rates payable by the general public where such
services were also available to members of the public,
or on a full cost recovery basis where such services were
only available to related parties.



l6. 0000
oooooOooooooon
oooooOoooooooan

16. Capital commitments
At the date of balance sheet, the CRTF had capital
commitments, so far as not provided for in the financial

oog statements, as follows:

2009 2008
oooooo Authorised and contracted for 5,712 15,548
ooooooo Authorised but not yet 53,813 17,000

contracted for
oo Total 59,525 32,548
17.000000 17. Financial risk management

(@ OOoOO (@) Investment policy

obobooooobooooo
obobooooobooooo
oogd

aooo

gboooooooooooo
obooooooooooo
ubobooobooooooog

obooooooooooo
ubooooooooooo
obobooooooooooo
obooooooooooo
uboboooboobooobooo

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus
cash is placed with banks in fixed-term deposits.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss.

At the balance sheet date, the CRTF did not have
significant concentrations of credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance
sheet date without taking account of any collateral
held or other credit enhancements is shown below:
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2009 2008
oooo Debtors 3,219 5,708
ooooooooo Amounts due from related parties 3,895 1,115
oooo Bank deposits 486,000 409,800
oooo Bank balances 11,935 16,303
0o Total 505,049 432,926

ubooooooooooo
oboboobooboo

ubooooooooooo
obobobooboobooo
oog

gooogo
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gooog
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ubooooooooooo
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ubooooooooooo
obooooooooooo
gboooooo
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obooooooooooo
oboooooood
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Debtors include mainly accrued interest and the
associated credit risk is minimal.

To minimise credit risks, all fixed deposits are placed
with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter

difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The CRTF employs projected cash flow analysis to
manage liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of
cash required and monitoring the working capital of
the CRTF to ensure that all liabilities due and known
funding requirements could be met. As the CRTF
has a strong liquidity position, it has a very low level
of liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising
from changes in market interest rates. This can be
further classified into fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk.
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Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Since the CRTF's
bank deposits bear interest at fixed rates, their fair
values will fall when market interest rates increase.
However, as all the bank deposits are stated at
amortised cost, changes in market interest rates will
not affect their carrying amounts and the CRTF's
profit and reserves.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
The CRTF is not exposed to material cash flow
interest rate risk because it has no major financial
instruments bearing interest at a floating rate.

The table below sets out the CRTF's exposure
to interest rate risk, based on the major interest
bearing assets stated at carrying amounts at the
balance sheet date and categorised by maturity
dates.

3000 00300
oo oooo1d oo
More than
3 months 3 months but not
or less more than 1 year Total
2009
oood Bank deposits 192,800 293,200 486,000
2008
oooo Bank deposits 218,600 191,200 409,800
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(e) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The CRTF does not have an exposure to currency risk
as all of its financial instruments are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar.

(f) Fair values

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. In the absence of such
guoted market prices, fair values are estimated
using present value or other valuation techniques,
using inputs based on market conditions existing at
the balance sheet date.

All financial instruments are stated in the balance
sheet at amounts equal to or not materially different
from their fair values.

18. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2009
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2009 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements.



O0o00o0ooOooooooon The CRTF is in the process of making an assessment of

O0O00O0O0O0O0OOOoooon what the impact of these amendments, new standards
O00d00oo00o0ooooooo and interpretations is expected to be in the period
O0o00ooO0ooOooooooon of initial adoption. So far it has concluded that the
O000oo0ooOooooooon adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
O00d00oo00o0ooooooo impact on the CRTF’s results of operations and financial
Oooooooooo position.

ODo0o0ooooooooooon The following revised standards may result in new or

oo0ooo0oO0oOoO0OO0OO0OO0OO0OO0 amended disclosures in future financial statements:

agd

gooooooo
gooooooo

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

D0oo0ooo1o@O)ooooooon 20090 10 10
HKAS1 (Revised), Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009
0000000007000 00000000000 20090 10 10
—00o0oooooo

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2009

— Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

oo Annual Report 2008-09 99



0o D
APPENDIX D

oooobgoooooooon

The Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance — Some Major Proposals
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Strengthen Accountability of Directors

Codify the standard of directors’ duty of care, skill and
diligence with a view to clarifying directors’ duties in law
and providing consistent guidance to directors

Restrict the appointment of corporate directors by
requiring every private company to have at least one
natural person as director so as to enhance transparency
and accountability

Improve Transparency and Disclosure of
Company Information

Require listed companies (and other companies if
requested by shareholders representing not less than 5%
of total voting rights) to prepare a separate directors’
remuneration report

Require companies (unless otherwise exempted) to
prepare a more analytical and forward-looking business
review as part of the directors’ report

Require a company to record the results of a poll at
general meetings and make the record available for
members’ inspection

Give members a right to inspect voting documents
(including proxies and voting papers) shortly after the
conclusion of a general meeting

Require companies to deliver to the Companies Registry
updated information on their share capital whenever
there is a change to their capital structure

Require companies’ instruments of charges to be
registered and available for public inspection. Shorten
the time period for registration of charges from five
weeks to 21 days
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Strengthen Auditors’ Rights
e Provide auditors with qualified privilege for statements

oobooooboooooooon
ooooog

U o0oooooooooooon
oo

Ubooboboboboooooon
oooooboooooooon
oo

googguo

Ooobobobooboooooon
oobooooboooooooon
O(@O0O0D0O000oo0O0)ooo
oobooooooooooon
uboboboobobooog

Ubooboboboboooooon
ooboobooboooobooon
oobooooooooooon
oooogon

O ooooooooooooon
Uoboo0oobonOOodiiowd
00 5%

Ubooboboboboooooon
oboboboobooobooo

made in the course of their duties as auditors and in
respect of their resignation

Provide auditors with a right to require information from
a wider group of persons

Provide outgoing auditors with a right to issue to
members a statement of the circumstances connected
with their cessation of office

Foster Shareholder Protection
e Introduce more stringent rules to deal with directors’

conflicts of interests in various kinds of transactions of a
company (involving, e.g., loans and contracts), including
requiring disinterested shareholders’ approval in respect
of those transactions in the case of public companies in
general

Expand the scope of statutory derivative action to
cover "multiple" derivative action, i.e. an action by a
shareholder of a related company on behalf of its parent
company or subsidiary

Reduce the threshold requirement for shareholders to
demand a poll from 10% to 5% of the total voting
rights

Give shareholders a statutory right to appoint a proxy to
attend a general meeting on their behalf and to speak
and vote at the meeting
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Business Facilitation
e As an alternative to court procedure, introduce
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"administrative restoration" procedure by the Registrar
for restoring a company which has been struck off in
straight-forward cases

Introduce a court-free procedure based on solvency test
as an alternative process for reduction of capital

Introduce a court-free statutory amalgamation procedure
for wholly-owned intra-group companies

Simplify and clarify the rules for provision of financial
assistance by a company in connection with the purchase
of its own shares

Remove par-value for all shares in companies having a
share capital

Allow general meetings to be held at more than one
location by using real-time electronic communications

Facilitate companies to communicate with their members
by electronic means and websites

Allow companies to dispense with Annual General
Meetings with unanimous shareholders’ consent

Allow more private companies to take advantage of
simplified accounting requirements
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